The Supreme Court of South Carolina

The State, Respondent,

v.

James Heyward, Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000122

RECEIVED

Dec 29 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

FINAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

K&L GATES LLP

Jennifer H. Thiem

Tara C. Sullivan

M. Claire Healy

134 Meeting Street, Suite 500

Charleston, SC 29401

(843) 579-5600

Chief Appellate Defender

Robert M. Dudek

South Carolina Commission on Indigent

Defense, Division of Appellate Defense

1330 Lady Street, Suite 401

Columbia, SC 29201-3332

(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's admission of a fingerprint card obtained from a New Jersey database and testimony based on the New Jersey fingerprint card where the fingerprint card was not properly authenticated by the State pursuant to this Court's clear precedent?

II. Did the Court of Appeals wrongly conclude that the trial court's erroneous denial of Petitioner's request to remove his shackles during jury selection was harmless, despite precedent of the Supreme Court of the United States recognizing that shackling is inherently prejudicial?

III. Did the Court of Appeals wrongly conclude that the trial court's erroneous allowance of expert opinion testimony about the operational capabilities of a gun found at Petitioner's residence was harmless?

IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's allowance of Petitioner's alias "Abdul Muslim" for use in the indictments and at trial, inviting undue religious prejudice against Petitioner?

V. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's admission of gruesome autopsy dissection photographs of the victim's internal head injuries?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner James Heyward ("Mr. Heyward" or "Petitioner") is currently serving a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole plus seventy years following his convictions for murder, burglary in the first degree, armed robbery, two counts of kidnapping, assault and battery in the first degree, pointing and presenting a firearm, and possession by a

person of an unlawful weapon having been convicted of a crime of violence. The Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on these charges.

Prior to the commencement of trial, the Honorable R. Knox McMahon conducted evidentiary hearings on a number of issues. The case was called for trial on June 27, 2017, before Judge McMahon. On July 3, 2017, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as to all charges. (R. p. 420, line 2-p. 421, line 6.) The trial court sentenced Petitioner to life in prison without the possibility of parole, plus seventy years to be served consecutively and ten years to be served concurrently. (R. p. 422, line 3-p. 423, line 14.)

Petitioner timely filed his notice of appeal on July 11, 2017, and raised the controlling issues to the Court of Appeals, which the Court of Appeals decided on October 14, 2020. *State v. Heyward*, 432 S.C. 296, 852 S.E.2d 452 (Ct. App. 2020). The Court of Appeals found that the trial court did not err in admitting a fingerprint card obtained from a New Jersey database and related testimony in direct violation of this Court's decision in *State v. Anderson*, 386 S.C. 120, 687 S.E.2d 35 (2009). The Court of Appeals found that the trial court did err in denying Petitioner's request to remove his shackles during the jury selection phase but ruled such error was harmless, which violates and conflicts with United States Supreme Court precedent. *See Holbrook v. Flynn*, 475 U.S. 560, 568–69, 106 S.Ct. 1340, 1345–46 (1986). The Court of Appeals found that the trial court also erred in allowing the expert testimony regarding the operational capabilities of the recovered handgun but wrongly found the trial court's error harmless. The Court of Appeals also held that the trial court did not err in allowing the use of Petitioner's alias "Abdul Muslim" in the indictments and in trial or in admitting gruesome autopsy dissection photographs of the victim.

Petitioner raised these errors in his motion for rehearing before the Court of Appeals. (App. Vol. III, at p. 658.) After the Court of Appeals denied rehearing, Petitioner petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari, which was granted on November 23, 2022.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 11, 2015, Alice Tollison was found strangled to death in her home. (R. p. 147, line 18-p. 148, line 2.) Her eight-year old great-granddaughter, G.F., was also found at the scene, after being tied up and left by the assailant. (R. p. 147, line 18-p. 148, line 2, p. 150, lines 6-18, p. 154, lines 15-21, p. 159, lines 22-24.)

On October 12, 2015, the Richland County Police matched certain fingerprints from the crime scene to a fingerprint card which was attributed to Petitioner from the State of New Jersey's Automated Fingerprint Identification System ("AFIS") database. (R. p. 371, lines 6-19, p. 204, lines 11-19, p. 208, lines 1-10.) After his arrest, the police fingerprinted Petitioner through Livescan software. (R. p. 225, lines 8-17.) At trial, the State presented testimony from latent print analysis expert Investigator Trisha Odom, who conducted fingerprint analyses comparing the latent prints collected from the crime scene and the New Jersey fingerprint card. (R. p. 197, line 25- p. 196, line 5, p. 202, lines 10-21, p. 224 lines, 1-14.) Defense counsel objected to the introduction of all fingerprint evidence because the fingerprint card from the New Jersey database was never authenticated in accordance with South Carolina law. (R. p. 203, line 18-p. 205, line 2.) During an in camera session, Investigator Odom admitted that she did not know the minimum compliance thresholds for every state in order to place prints into their respective databases. (R. p. 220, line 21-p. 221, line 22.) Nevertheless, the court overruled defense counsel's argument that the New Jersey prints had not been authenticated and ultimately admitted the fingerprint evidence. (R. p. 243, lines 12-17.)

A search warrant was obtained following Petitioner's arrest, and a gun was found in the home where Petitioner was residing. (R. p. 314, lines 11-13, p. 314, line 25-p. 316, line 5.) At trial, G.F. testified that the assailant had a pistol that was "gold and rusty." (R. p. 146, line 24-p. 147, line 14.) The State elicited detailed testimony about the recovered gun as well. Investigator Michael Beeler testified that the recovered gun was an unloaded ".32 caliber Smith & Wesson handgun." (R. p. 351, line 24-p. 352, line 3.) During his testimony, the court admitted "the handgun . . . as well as six unfired cartridges" into evidence. (R. p. 352, lines 19-25.)

After the entry of the recovered gun into evidence and the testimony describing the gun, defense counsel objected to the subsequent testimony of Investigator David Collins, who was offered by the State to opine on the operational capabilities of the recovered firearm. (R. p. 357, line 23- p. 358, line 5.) The court overruled the objection, finding that whether the firearm was "capable of expelling a projectile through explosion. . . . is an essential element of pointing and presenting." (R. p. 360, lines 16-22.) The court further stated that such testimony would also be relevant to finding whether Petitioner was armed with a deadly weapon during the robbery. (R. p. 359, line 21-p. 360, line 4.) In addition to testifying about the operational capabilities of the recovered firearm, Investigator Collins testified it was "somewhat worn and the finish [was] in bad condition." (R. p. 357, lines 9-11.)

Defense counsel also objected to the use of the alias "Abdul Muslin" in the indictments and at trial. (R. p. 426, line 2-p. 437, line 14, p. 441, line 11-p. 443, line 19, p. 444, lines 4-10, p. 446, lines 7-20, p. 447, lines 8-16, p. 3, lines 5-10, Motion to Strike, Ex. 1.) The alias was read to the jury pool as part of the indictments and referenced during jury voir dire. (R. p. 4, line 19-p. 16, line 7.) During the trial, the State presented testimony that DNA from the crime scene matched to an "Abdul Muslim" with the national identification number 220688PA. (R. p. 378,

line 2-p. 379, line 9.) Previous testimony indicated that Petitioner's national identification number was 220688PA, and another State witness testified she knew Petitioner as "Abdul." (R. p. 225, lines 10-13, p. 321, line 23-p. 322, line 3.)

Petitioner was shackled in the courtroom, and prior to jury selection, defense counsel requested that Petitioner's shackles be removed to prevent any prejudice from the jury. (R. p. 2, lines 8-22.) Defense counsel noted that Petitioner had been well-behaved on his three prior court appearances in relation to the case, and he noted that any potential jurors in the first two rows of the gallery would certainly see Petitioner's shackling. (*Id.*) The court denied this request without any explanation. (R. p. 2, line 23.)

At trial, the State introduced two color photographs taken during Ms. Tollison's autopsy that depicted the front and back of her dissected scalp pulled away from her skull to reveal bruising underneath. (R. p. 292, lines 4-10, p. 294, line 22-p. 295, line 11, State Exs. 14 and 15.) Defense counsel objected to the introduction of these photographs under Rule 403, SCRE, because Ms. Tollison's cause of death was strangulation, and the photographs therefore lacked any probative value. (R. p. 292, line 13-p. 293, line 10, p. 295, line 20-p. 296, line 9.) In addition, they risked undue prejudice based on the gruesome nature of the photographs. (*Id.*) Dr. Amy Durso, who performed Ms. Tollison's autopsy and took the photographs, testified as to the bruising of Ms. Tollison's head depicted in the photographs, although she testified that Ms. Tollison's cause of death was strangulation and admitted she could not date the bruising of the head. (R. p. 303, line 20-p. 304, line 1, p. 312, line 25-p. 313, line 2.) Moreover, Dr. Durso provided extensive testimony regarding the violent nature of the strangulation and the severity of the injuries to Ms. Tollison resulting from the strangulation. (R. p. 283, line 10-p. 290, line 8, p. 305, line 11-p. 310, line 20.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed in the absence of a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” *State v. Sheppard*, 391 S.C. 415, 420, 706 S.E.2d 16, 18 (2011) (citation omitted); *see also State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006) (“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.”) (citations omitted); *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 622-23, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (“The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.”) (quoting *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003)) (internal quotation marks omitted); and *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995) (“Whether a defendant is restrained during trial is within the trial judge’s discretion.”).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (citation omitted). Moreover, “[a] failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Hawes*, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997)).

The appellate standard of review for questions of law is de novo. *See Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (“We are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.”) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred and departed from well-established precedent of this Court in affirming the trial court's admission of a fingerprint card obtained from a New Jersey database and testimony based on the New Jersey Fingerprint card.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's admission of fingerprint evidence without the proper authentication required by South Carolina Rule of Evidence 901. The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that the trial court properly admitted the New Jersey fingerprint card under Rule 901(b)(3), SCRE. *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 314, 852 S.E. 2d at 461. In order to reach this conclusion, the Court of Appeals overlooked the requirements for fingerprint authentication, as set forth by this Court in *Anderson*, 386 S.C. at 120, 687 S.E.2d at 35, in favor of a novel authentication method for fingerprints that is inconsistent with established South Carolina law.

Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded that the State's fingerprint expert's comparison of Petitioner's known fingerprints—the prints taken when he was arrested and fingerprinted by Richland County in connection with this case—with the prints on the fingerprint card the investigators obtained through the AFIS system from New Jersey was sufficient to authenticate the New Jersey fingerprints obtained through AFIS pursuant to Rule 901(b)(3), SCRE. *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 315, 852 S.E. 2d at 461. No other South Carolina case cites Rule 901(b)(3) for the authentication of fingerprints. Rather, South Carolina's seminal case on fingerprint authentication is *Anderson*, 386 S.C. at 120, 687 S.E.2d at 35, which cites to Rule 901(a), SCRE, instead.

It is well established under South Carolina law that fingerprint evidence must be authenticated in order to be admissible at trial. *See, e.g., State v. Rich*, 293 S.C. 172, 359 S.E.2d 281 (1987) (reversing conviction based on trial court's failure to authenticate fingerprint comparison prior to its admission); Rule 901(a), SCRE ("The requirement of authentication or

identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.”). Under well-established South Carolina law, “evidence as to when and by whom the [fingerprint] card was made and that the prints on the card were in fact those of this defendant” is required to authenticate fingerprints. *Rich*, 293 S.C. at 174, 359 S.E.2d at 282 (citation omitted). In *Anderson*, this Court also required testimony regarding how one’s fingerprints were taken, including testimony that a known fingerprint card was taken at a correctional facility on a certain date, in order to meet the authentication requirement of Rule 901, SCRE. 386 S.C. at 128–29, 131–32, 687 S.E.2d at 39–40, 41. Critically, the fingerprint expert in *Anderson* testified that the prints on the AFIS card were taken at a correctional facility, on a specific date, and assigned a unique state identifying number. *Id.* at 128, 687 S.E.2d at 39–40. As the Court of Appeals recognized, there was no such testimony at Petitioner’s trial. *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 314, 852 S.E. 2d at 461. (“[W]e agree the State failed to establish when and where the N.J. Fingerprints were taken . . .”). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals overlooked the State’s admitted failure to meet the requirements of *Anderson* when finding that the New Jersey fingerprint card was nevertheless authenticated.

The State has previously argued that this Court “explicitly acknowledged” in *Anderson* that expert testimony can be used to authenticate fingerprint cards, and, therefore, Investigator Odom’s testimony was sufficient to authenticate the New Jersey fingerprint cards. (App. Vol. III, at p. 677.) However, the State’s characterization of this Court’s decision in *Anderson* is overly broad and incorrect. This Court’s holding in *Anderson* does not propose that any “expert” can authenticate fingerprint cards, even if the expert is lacking certain foundational knowledge about the fingerprints, including when, where and how the fingerprints were collected. In fact,

this Court articulated quite the opposite—in *Anderson*, this Court only found the burden of authentication satisfied where the fingerprint expert provided “testimony which substantiated the process used in obtaining and maintaining the fingerprint card.” 386 at 128, 687 S.E.2d at 39. No such testimony exists in Petitioner’s case, and, as such, the investigator’s authentication of the New Jersey fingerprint card was impermissible under South Carolina law.

Even if reliance on Rule 901(b)(3) is a permissible method for authenticating fingerprints under South Carolina law (which Petitioner contends it is not), the State’s fingerprint expert would have needed to use the scientifically accepted and peer reviewed ACE-V methodology to reliably authenticate the New Jersey fingerprints. As the Court of Appeals recognized, in Petitioner’s case, the State’s fingerprint expert’s comparison between the Richland County prints and the New Jersey prints obtained through AFIS was limited to a pattern comparison and was not a minutia comparison. *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 315, 852 S.E. 2d at 461–62. However, the Court of Appeals failed to appreciate the importance of the distinction between the two types of comparisons—notably, that the ACE-V minutia comparison methodology is a scientifically accepted and peer reviewed methodology of comparing fingerprints. (*See* R. p. 260, lines 1–17.) The State’s fingerprint expert’s admitted use of a simple pattern comparison is insufficient to authenticate the fingerprint evidence.

Finally, the admission of the improperly authenticated New Jersey fingerprints was not harmless error. Investigator Odom did not delineate between the Richland County prints and the New Jersey prints in her report on the fingerprint evidence. Accordingly, her use of the improperly authenticated New Jersey fingerprints in that report would mean that the entire report was inadmissible and the critical fingerprint evidence would not have been presented to the jury. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the trial court properly admitted the New Jersey

fingerprint card and that the fingerprint card was properly authenticated, and this error was not harmless.

The Court of Appeals' decision is not consistent with longstanding South Carolina case law and precedent of this Court, and for these reasons, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals and grant Petitioner a new trial.

II. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial court's erroneous denial of Petitioner's request to remove his shackles during jury selection was harmless.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court's erroneous denial of Petitioner's request to remove his shackles during jury selection was harmless because Petitioner was not prejudiced. *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 323, 852 S.E.2d 452 at 466. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the trial court's denial of Petitioner's request to remove his shackles was harmless is in direct opposition to binding precedent of the United States Supreme Court finding shackling to be "inherently prejudicial." *Holbrook*, 475 U.S. at 568–69, 106 S.Ct. at 1345–46.

The Court of Appeals did appropriately conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow Petitioner to appear in court without shackles. *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 323, 852 S.E.2d at 466. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court failed to properly exercise its discretion and there was no evidence of a security concern that would outweigh the prejudice to Mr. Heyward of appearing before potential jurors in shackles. *Id.* at 324, 466.

However, in a paradoxical conclusion, the Court of Appeals determined this erroneous denial of Petitioner's request to have his shackles removed was harmless because Petitioner "was not prejudiced." *Id.* at 325, 467. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals misapprehended the United States Supreme Court decisions of *Holbrook*, 475 U.S. at 560, 106 S.Ct. at 1340, and *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 125 S.Ct. 2007 (2005).

The Court of Appeals specifically stated in its opinion that in *Deck*, 544 U.S. at 622, 125 S.Ct. at 2007, the State of Missouri’s “argument failed to take into account the Supreme Court’s statement in *Holbrook v. Flynn* that shackling is ‘inherently prejudicial.’” *Heyward*, 432 S.C. at 324, 852 S.E.2d 452 at 466. (citations omitted). Yet, in Petitioner’s case, the Court of Appeals also failed to consider this statement by the United States Supreme Court and failed to properly conclude that the trial court’s admitted abuse of discretion in refusing to grant Petitioner’s request to remove his shackles was prejudicial.

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