RECEIVED

Feb 09 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the SUPREME COURT**

**Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMES HEYWARD,

PETITIONER.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000122

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-0192
(803) 576-1800

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

The Court of Appeals was correct to authenticate the evidence, as it is satisfactory under Rule 901(b)(3). Moreover, the Court of Appeals' reasoning regarding the nature of the evidence and the question of harmless error was also correct. The Court of Appeals was correct to find that even if authentication had been in error, it would not be to the prejudice of Petitioner because latent prints from the scene were found to match Petitioner's prints using both of the available cards.

This fact guarantees that undisputed and authenticated evidence of fingerprint records matched the latent prints, placing Petitioner at the scene of the crime. *He cannot escape that factual conclusion,* nor demonstrate he is entitled to relief given the overwhelming evidence of guilt articulated by the Court of Appeals in this case. *Id.* at 468 n.8.

The holding that the N.J./FBI prints were properly authenticated under rule 901(b)(3) was proper and should be affirmed by this Court.^{2 3} The Court of Appeals was correct to find no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate any basis for which his conviction should be reversed.

² The ruling of the Court of Appeals can also be sustained on alternate sustaining grounds under Rule 901. Under Rule 901(b)(7) the public records example, provides for authentication by “[e]vidence that a writing authorized by law to be recorded or filed and in fact recorded or filed in a public office, or a purported public record, report, statement, or data compilation, in any form, is from the public office where items of this nature are kept.” Rule 901(b)(7), SCRE. As the Fourth Circuit held in *Thornton*, the fingerprint cards produced by various law enforcement agencies and maintained by the FBI are admissible as business records or as public records. *Thornton*, 209 F. App’x at 299. Here, Investigator Odom testified she obtained the fingerprint card from a national database maintained by the FBI, and that prints will not be uploaded and accepted by the FBI if they fail to meet their universal threshold standards for quality and comparison. (App. p. 223, lines 1-17; p. 227, lines 14-21; p. 225, lines 16-22.) Thus, Odom’s testimony on the standard procedures used by AFIS to keep the prints was sufficient for authentication. *See also State v. Carruth*, 166 S.W.3d 589, 591 (Mo.Ct.App.2005).

³ Further, Rule 901 (b)(9) provides for authentication by “[e]vidence describing a process or system used to produce a result and showing that the process or system produces an accurate result.” This subsection was recently discussed in *State v. Brown*, 818 S.E.2d 735, 740 (S.C. 2018), to determine the authentication of GPS monitoring records. In *Brown*, this Court again acknowledged the low burden to authenticate records but required the State to make some minimal showing of the accuracy of the records. *Id.* at 741 (“We emphasize that ‘[n]o elaborate showing of the accuracy of the recorded data is required;’ however, the State must make some showing to authenticate the records.” (citing *People v. Rodriguez*, 224 Cal.Rptr.3d 295, 309 (2017))). In this case, Odom testified regarding when and where Heyward’s fingerprints were taken upon his arrest and detention, how the prints were submitted to AFIS, how the prints were submitted to SLED and her lab via the Livescan software, and how the accuracy of the prints maintained in AFIS was corroborated by the Livescan prints. Thus, in accordance with recent prevailing law in *Brown*, Odom’s testimony was sufficient to satisfy the authentication requirement under subsection Rule 901(b)(9).

II. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court’s error in denying Petitioner’s motion to remove his ankle shackles during trial was harmless in light of the fact that there is no evidence demonstrating his ankle restraints were visible to the jury.

Standard of Review

“Whether a defendant is restrained during trial is within the trial judge's discretion. The trial judge is to balance the prejudicial effect of shackling with the considerations of courtroom decorum and security.” *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995) (citing *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970)). “The trial judge is the best equipped to decide the extent to which security measures should be adopted to prevent disruption of the trial, harm to those in the courtroom, escape of the accused, and prevention of other crimes.” *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 16–17, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012) (citing *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) (citation omitted)). “To warrant reversal, an error must result in prejudice to the appealing party.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011)).

How the Issue Was Presented at Trial

Before jury selection began, Petitioner asked the court to remove the shackles from his feet, arguing the shackles could be seen from the portion of first two rows of the gallery directly behind Petitioner. (App. p. 7, lines 11-15.) Petitioner requested the removal for the duration of the jury selection. (App. p. 7, lines 16-17.) The trial court denied the motion without elaboration. (App. p. 7, line 23.)

How the Court of Appeals Ruled

The Court of Appeals ruled that the denial of Petitioner's request to remove his ankle shackles was harmless error. The Court of Appeals found this case to be similar to *Deck v. Missouri* in the sense that the trial court failed to set forth on the record any stated reason for why the request was denied, and the record otherwise lacks any indications of concern for security. *Id.*, 852 S.E.2d at 466. As such, the denial of the request constituted an abuse of discretion for failure to place a basis for the ruling on the record. However, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that such error was harmless as there is no basis for prejudice against Petitioner. The Court of Appeals articulated that it could find no supporting Supreme Court or South Carolina authority directing that the heightened burden in *Deck* applies to circumstances where it is not obvious from the record that the shackles were observed. Instead, the Court of Appeals found *State v. Johnson* analogous here, and supported by other jurisdictions. *Id.*, (citing 422 S.C. 439, 446, 812 S.E.2d 739, 742, 745 (Ct. App. 2018)). Although Petitioner objected to his ankle shackles, and argued that potential jurors in a portion of the first two rows could potential see his shackles, nothing in the record indicates that any juror could or did see his shackles. Additionally, the Court of Appeals noted that the issue only existed during the jury selection process, and the leg shackles were removed during trial.

Analysis

The Court of Appeals exercised sound legal reasoning in finding only harmless error for the trial court's failure to exercise discretion in denying Petitioner's request to remove his ankle shackles. This Court should affirm.

As a general proposition, a criminal defendant has the right to appear in court free from physical restraints. "The law has long forbidden routine use of visible shackles during the guilt

phase; it permits a [s]tate to shackle a criminal defendant only in the presence of a special need.” *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 626 (2005). A defendant's appearance in shackles “may reverse the presumption of innocence by causing jury prejudice thereby denying him due process.” *Jones v. Meyer*, 899 F.2d 883, 884 (9th Cir.); see *Duckett v. Godinez*, 67 F.3d 734, 748 (9th Cir. 1995) (holding that because of the potential for prejudice, due process requires that shackles be used as a “last resort”). However, “the trial judge is the best equipped to decide the extent to which security measures should be adopted to prevent disruption of the trial, harm to those in the courtroom, escape of the accused, and prevention of other crimes.” *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995).

The law grants the trial court discretion over the decision to remove a defendant’s shackles in court. However, absent factual-findings or an articulated basis for the decision, it cannot be gleaned from the record of this case that the trial court properly exercised such discretion. The Court of Appeals accurately acknowledged the court’s lack of reasoning within the record and correctly found error. However, the Court of Appeals was also correct in its review of the record facts and application of the law in finding that requisite prejudice did not arise from such error in this case.

“In order for a criminal defendant to enjoy the maximum benefit of the presumption of innocence, our courts should make every reasonable effort to present the defendant before the jury in a manner that does not suggest, expressly or impliedly, that he or she is a dangerous character whose guilt is a foregone conclusion.... The negative connotations of restraints, nevertheless, are without significance **unless the fact of the restraints comes to the attention of the jury.**” *State v. Brawley*, 137 A.3d 757, 760 (Ct. 2016), citing *State v. Webb*, 680 A.2d 147(1996) (emphasis added). It is the defendant's burden to show that the presence of shackles prejudiced him in some

way. *See U.S. v. Mayes*, 158 F.3d 1215, 1226-27 (11th Cir. 1998) (even if court abused its discretion in ordering defendants to wear leg irons during trial, defendants failed to demonstrate prejudice and were not denied fair trial); *Castillo v. Stainer*, 983 F.2d 145,147 (9th Cir. 1992) (error in restraining defendant harmless where restraint could not be seen by the jury); *State v. Williams*, 485 A.2d 570 (Ct. 1985) (“the record does not indicate ... [and] the defendant [does not] claim that any offer of proof was made as to whether the jurors could or did view the restraints when on the defendant”).

The only portion of the record discussing the issue of shackling is Petitioner’s claim that the portions of the first two rows of seating in the courthouse that were directly behind Petitioner’s seat could provide an angle in which *potential* jurors *might* see his ankle shackles. (App., p. 7, lines 11-22). The Court of Appeals noted this argument by counsel. However, it found that the record does not go any further to provide evidence supporting Petitioner’s claim. The record fails to demonstrate that 1) potential jurors actually saw the ankle shackles, 2) that any of the selected jurors for Petitioner’s trial were seated in that precise area of the courthouse, 3) that the selected jurors in any way learned of Petitioner’s shackles, and 4) that any juror was actually prejudiced as a result. The record actually demonstrates the opposite, noting that the shackles were removed for Petitioner’s trial.

As the Court of Appeals noted in its review of controlling authority, the heightened burden under *Deck* that relieves a defendant of the burden of proving actual prejudice only attaches to shackles or restraints “that will be seen by the jury. . .” and where the record demonstrates that the shackles were in fact visible. *Id.* at 467 (citing *Deck*, 544 U.S. at 635, 125 S.Ct. 2007). Such is not the case here.

By comparison, the Court of Appeals likened this case to its prior decision in *State v. Johnson*, wherein it upheld the denial of a motion for mistrial for lack of any evidence that a member of the jury had actually seen the shackled defendant when ushered by police officers into the courthouse. (App. p. 655). The Court of Appeals gave further support to its ruling by noting that other jurisdictions around the country have held similarly that the heightened *Deck* standard does not apply absent evidence that a juror actually observed the defendant in restraints. (App. p. 655, n. 12). Here the applicable law dictates that following an abuse of discretion by the trial court in denying his request, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving prejudice from nonvisible shackles, and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Petitioner had failed to satisfy that burden.

Petitioner cannot identify any evidence of error on the part of the Court of Appeals in reaching its conclusion. The ruling of the Court of Appeals should therefore be affirmed.

III. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding harmless error in the trial court's decision to permit expert opinion testimony about the operational capabilities of the gun found at Petitioner's residence.

Standard of Review

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009)

How the Issue Was Presented at Trial

Before Investigator David Collins began his testimony, Petitioner objected to any testimony from the witness that the gun recovered from Petitioner's bedroom was, in fact, operational. Petitioner argued the evidence was not relevant to any element of any substantive offense charged and was "superfluous testimony in what looks to be a more than week-long trial."

(App. p. 362, line 9 – p. 363, line 5.) Petitioner **did not** argue at trial the testimony was unduly prejudicial and inadmissible pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. (App. p. 362-366.)

The solicitor responded that the testimony was required to prove the firearm was an actual weapon as part of the pointing and presenting the firearm charge. The solicitor also argued the operational firearm was probative of malice, even though Petitioner did not use the weapon to murder Victim. (App. p. 363, lines 7-17.) The court read its intended charges on pointing and presenting a firearm, as well as armed robbery, and noted there was no testimony yet as to whether the “instrument” could cause death or great bodily harm, or whether it was capable of “expelling a projectile through explosion.” (App. p. 364, line 18 – p. 365, line 19.) The court found the testimony on the gun’s operation “an essential element of pointing and presenting.” The court based his ruling on SCRE Rule 401, saying “relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is consummate to a determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” (App. p. 365, lines 20-25.) During his testimony, Collins told the jury his role was to determine whether the firearm functioned properly. (App. p. 370, lines 13-16.) The examiner said the gun was worn and the finish was in bad condition, but the weapon would function as a firearm. (App. p. 372, line 2- p. 373, line 10).

How the Court of Appeals Ruled

The Court of Appeals ruled that admission of testimony as to the operational capability of Petitioner’s gun was harmless error. The Court of Appeals concluded that based upon the rules of statutory construction and abiding legislative intent, it would produce an absurd result under S.C. Code of Laws § 16-23-410 and § 16-11-330(A) to require proof that a firearm is capable of propelling a projectile while also allowing an unloaded gun or “representation of a deadly weapon” to satisfy the respective statutory criteria. *Id.*, at 463. However, the Court of Appeals found the

error to be harmless for lack of prejudice against Petitioner in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt admitted against Petitioner at trial. *Id.*

Analysis

The ruling of the Court of Appeals was proper. Petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice resulting from inclusion of expert testimony as to the operational capability of the gun and thus the finding of harmless error was proper in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. The ruling of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

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